IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID KELSEY SPARRE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Parallel J Press

OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC12-891 L.T. Case NO. 10-CF-8424

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0648825 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500 nada.carey@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 25, 2010, the Duval County Grand Jury indicted appellant, David Kelsey Sparre, for first-degree murder in the death of Tiara Pool. R1:20-22.

Sparre was tried by jury before Duval County Circuit Judge Elizabeth Senterfitt on November 28-December 2, 2011. The jury found Sparre guilty of premeditated and felony (burglary) murder and that Sparre carried, displayed, used, or attempted to use a weapon. R3:592-93, 12:1204.

At the penalty phase on December 13, 2011, Sparre waived the presentation of mitigation evidence. The jury recommended

^{&#}x27;The first five volumes of the seventeen-volume record on appeal, comprising the pleadings and motion hearings, are designated by the letter "R," followed by the volume number and page number. The next eight volumes, comprising the guilt and penalty phase transcripts, are designated by the letter "T," followed by the volume number and page number. The two volumes of Exhibits are designated by the letter "E," followed by the volume number and page number.

the death penalty by a vote of 12 to 0. T15:1410.

At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing on January 27, 2012, Sparre again waived the presentation of mitigating evidence.

On March 30, 2012, the court sentenced Sparre to death, finding two aggravators: heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC), and felony murder (burglary). The court found one statutory mitigating factor, age, 19, and the following nonstatutory mitigating factors: neglect; emotional deprivation and abuse; physical abuse; lack of good support system; father absent until age 12; good at fixing things; dropped out of high school but obtained GED; participated in ROTC in high school and served in United States military; devoted to grandmother; has a child; loves his family; family loves him. R4:694-713; Appendix A.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase

In July of 2010, Tiara Pool, 21, lived at the Country Club Lake Apartments in Jacksonville. Pool's husband, Michael Pool, was on deployment and their two young sons were living with their grandmother in Bonifay. R8:548-49, R9:719. On July 12, Nichelle Edwards, a friend of Pool's and the children's nanny, went to the apartment to check on Pool because Pool had not been in classes that week. When there was no answer, Edwards entered with her key. She opened the bedroom door a crack, saw a hand on the floor, and ran outside and called 911. R8:435-44.

Officer Wesley Brown responded to the call and found Pool nude on the floor, deceased and covered in blood. R8:456-69. Crime scene detectives arrived shortly thereafter and found no signs of forced entry. R8:479. Pool's open purse was on a table in the living room, with the wallet open and items hanging out of the purse. Pool's cell phone was sitting on the back of the couch. R9:485-86. In the master bedroom, there was blood around the body, on the carpet, baseboards, door, and wall. R8:496. A blue towel was under the body and a pair of black capris with underwear on the floor nearby. R8:499, 502. There was blood on the bed, along with assorted clothing and a bottle of Oxiclean. The comforter was ripped, with blood in the rip. R8:505-07. There was blood on the bathroom door and blood drops

at the entrance to the bathroom. Blood in the grout on the floor around the tub and toilet suggested that area had been cleaned. A large knife, which matched a knife block in the kitchen, was propped against the tub. The tip was missing and the blade was bowed.² R8:511-14, 516.

Missing from the residence were Pool's 2003 Chevy Malibu, her keys, a PlayStation, a wireless router, and a DVD. R8:552-53, R9:719.

Dr. Jesse Giles concluded that Pool died from multiple sharp force injuries. There were about 88 sharp force injuries, the majority to the head and neck. In Giles' opinion, Pool was alive when the injuries were inflicted. Rll:1015. There was a large slash under her neck from side to side, which alone would have been fatal. Two of four stab wounds to the back went into the lung and also would have been potentially fatal. Rll:1024-25. A wound to the upper right forehead went into the skull, from which Giles recovered the knife tip. Rll:1018, 1022. There were numerous cuts and stabs to the arms and hands, including 39 cuts to the hands, l1 or 12 of which represented two slices of the blade. Rll:1026-31. The wounds to the lungs and throat occurred at the end of the attack, Rll:1033, which took minutes, not seconds. Rll:1055.

Police looked through Pool's cell phone and found phone

² Some Y-DNA on the knife handle was consistent with Sparre's DNA but was also consistent with the DNA of 1 of every 2,300 people. R9:795.

calls and texts to a number of men, including flirtatious and sexually explicit text messages to and from Sparre between July 6 and July 8, 2010. In the July 8 texts, Pool and Sparre agreed to meet at St. Vincent's hospital in Jacksonville. The last message from Pool to Sparre was at 3:24 p.m., saying she had just passed him (in the hospital). The last texts from Sparre to Pool were at 5:21 p.m., saying, don't bother coming, and 6:15 p.m., saying, guess you're mad at me. R8:563-77.

On July 14, Detectives Bodine and Childers went to Waynesboro, Georgia, where Sparre lived with his grandmother. Bodine and Childers, along with Brantley County Deputy Simpson and GBI agent Dyal, told Sparre they wanted to talk to him about an investigation and asked him to accompany them to the Sheriff's Office. Sparre agreed to go and rode with Simpson and Dyal. He was not under arrest and was free to go. The interview was surreptitiously videotaped. R8:579-85.

In the interview, the detectives showed Sparre a photo of Pool and asked if he knew her. Sparre said he met Pool on Craigslist. She had posted an ad three weeks earlier, saying she wanted to chill. On Thursday, July 8, he went to Jacksonville with his grandmother, who was getting a heart catheter at St. Vincent's hospital. He and Pool began texting, and Pool came to the hospital. They met near the information center and talked and then went to her house, where they had

sex. Pool dropped Sparre off at the hospital, and he hadn't talked to her since. He texted her when he got back to the hospital but she didn't respond. R8:593-600, R9:607-42.

After the detectives ended the interview, they took Sparre home, and he gave them the clothing he said he was wearing that day. R8:585, R9:644-45.

After the July 14 interview, police noticed discrepancies btween Sparre's statement and their investigation. Pool's Craigslist post³ was on July 1, not three weeks earlier, and Sparre's initial response was on July 5. R9:646-47. Also, Sparre's phone records showed that the two texts Sparre said he had sent Pool from the hospital after she dropped him off were actually sent from across the river before he reached the hospital. R9:650, R9:731-32, 707-16.

Surveillance video from St. Vincent's hospital showed Sparre walking into the lobby at 2:20 p.m., Pool walking in ten minutes later, and the two of them sitting together. Another video showed Sparre returning to the hospital through the parking garage, carrying a large shopping bag and wearing different clothing from the clothing he said he was wearing that

³ Pool had made numerous postings on Craigslist, sometimes describing herself differently, and had communicated with other men on Craigslist. R9:739-45. In the July 1, 2010, post, she said she was looking for friends who were really chill, nothing sexual, and she got along better with men. R9:747. Michael Pool was aware that his wife had posted an ad on Craigslist before his first deployment in late 2009. As far as he knew, the ad was to meet people. He suspected his wife of having relationships with other men but learned only after her death that she had done so. R8:550-59.

day and had turned over to the police. R9:721-28.

Pool's car was found legally parked a block from St. Vincent's hospital, with her house and car keys inside. The driver's seat was positioned to accommodate someone around Sparre's height of 6'3", not the 5'3" Pool. R8: 533-43; R9:719-20; R9:749-54.

On July 24, Detectives Childers and Bodine went to Charleston, South Carolina, to arrest Sparre on a warrant. After being advised of his rights, Sparre consented to a search of his residence, property, and vehicles. R10:816-18.

In the July 24 videotaped interview, Sparre told several different stories about what happened on July 8 and eventually admitted he killed Pool. He initially told police the same thing he had told them on July 14, that Pool came to the hospital, they talked, she drove them to her house, they had sex, and she took him back to the hospital. R10:843-48. He went to his car in the hospital garage before returning to his grandmother's hospital room to deposit a bag with a gift Pool had given him. R10:858. He sent Pool texts when he got back to the hospital but she didn't answer so he figured she was mad at him. R10:879. After the detectives told Sparre the phone records, video, and lab records were going to "hang you out to dry," Sparre said he went to get cigarettes from Pool's apartment and when he returned, there was blood everywhere, and

he freaked out and left. R10:913. When the police did not buy this story, Sparre said he was in the shower and Pool tried to stab him. He freaked out, blacked out, and before he knew what would happen, it was already done. He thought no one would believe it was self-defense, so he wiped everything down. R10:918. He took the PlayStation to a pawn shop in Waynesville. R10:923. Sparre said his stepdad "beat the fuck out me every day for a year-and-a-half and that his mom "beat the fuck out of me" but his grandma "doesn't touch me." R10:933-35. When the detectives told Sparre that Pool was attacked on the bed, not in the bathroom, R10:941, and that it wasn't self-defense, R10:945, Sparre said he didn't know why he did it, that he got a really bad headache and he didn't remember anything from the time he got out of the shower until he got to the car. He then said he got out of the shower and grabbed a blue towel out of the closet. He went to get something to drink, and she ran at him, angry. R10:945-47. When the detectives told him that it didn't start in the kitchen, Sparre said he didn't know how he got the knife, but he remembered opening the bedroom door. She was lying on the bed on her back, and he was giving her a massage. He didn't remember if he had the knife then and didn't remember the actual stabbing. He knew he stabbed her because when he was done, he freaked out and dropped the knife, and he was "flipping," was "tripping, balling," He denied being high on

drugs, "I was real calm when I walked in there because she had Hydrocodone in her purse. I remember that. That's why I was so calm." He took all of them, eight. Asked if he took the pills afterwards, he said, yes, he was tripping out. He didn't know why he went through her purse or why he took the PlayStation. He grabbed all the Hydrocodone in the purse and wiped everything off, including the car. R10:950-52. Asked about the OxiClean on the bed, he said he didn't clean anything, "why would I clean anything?" R10:953, 958. He burned his clothes in a burn pile in the yard. R10:955. Asked how he learned to clean up crime scenes, he said he watched C.S.I. Asked again why, he said he didn't remember stabbing her. Doing it didn't make him feel good, and he was "freaked out like shit" afterwards. R10:962-63. Asked if he had blacked out before, he said he blacked out once when he was driving, and when he came to, a lady hit him, but it was her fault. R10:964. He had blacked out at other times, too, but didn't pass out, "I'll be one place whenever whenever I just like - and then I'll be another." R10:965. He didn't know why he did it, everything was going good. Asked if he did it to get a thrill, he said, no. When the detectives told him some people do it for a rush, he said he'd jump off a building if he wanted a rush. It was bothering him, and he knew they would be coming eventually. If he had wanted to run, he would have run when he was in Brantley County where he could

have gotten away with it. R10:970-72. He didn't know why he told the detectives he was in a home for boys when he was younger, as he'd kept that inside for a long time. Asked if he thought going to the home was bad, he said, "It is bad. I mean who wants to -who wants to tell somebody that they -(unintelligible) -oh, my mom didn't give a fuck about me and she let her husband -- she chose her husband over me, over her own flesh and blood." R10:973.

After Sparre confessed, police went to Sparre's residence and recovered blue jean material and some green and white striped cloth from a burn pile. Police also recovered pawn tickets from the Waynesville pawn shop where Sparre had pawned a PlayStation and games on July 14. R10:807-10.

Ashley Chewning, 20, testified she and Sparre had a tenmonth relationship in 2009, and seven months into the relationship, she got pregnant. They broke up before their child, Chloe, was born, but attempted to get back together in July 2010. A week after his grandmother's surgery in Jacksonville, Sparre told Chewning that "human blood stinks" and that he had killed a black woman in her apartment and stolen her PlayStation. Chewning didn't believe him. On September 16, 2011, Chewing received a letter from Sparre, in which he said he "slumped that bitch," meaning he killed her. R10:992-98.

Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase proceeding before the jury, defense counsel, Rafik Eler, told the trial court that Sparre did not wish to present any mitigating evidence. Mr. Eler informed the court that he had numerous witnesses present and ready to testify to significant mitigation. Dr. Harry Krop would testify to both statutory mental mitigators, that Sparre was under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance and his capacity to conform his conduct to the law was substantially impaired at the time of the crime. Dr. Krop also would testify to five separate psychiatric diagnoses, stemming from early childhood and a dysfunctional family: ADHD, posttraumatic stress disorder, a neurological assessment of substance abuse, intermittent explosive disorder, and bipolar schizoaffective disorder. R15:1235-37, 1239. Dr. Buffington, a nationally-renowned pharmacologist, would testify about the effects of hydrocodone, powder cocaine, alcohol and the other drugs Sparre used, including blackouts and memory loss, the interaction of those drugs, and the effects of continued drug use from age 13 to the present on frontal lobe growth. R15:1238. Drs. Alligood and Greenberg would testify (by video) about Sparre's history mental issues, which began as early as age 11, 12, 13, when he was in the boy's home, Tara Hall, including lack of treatment for PTSD. Alligood and Greenburg would testify based on Sparre's history,

medical records, school records, and consultation with the family. R15:1238-39.

Shannon Bullock, from Belize, a counselor at Tara Hall when Sparre was there, would testify about Sparre's dysfunctional family, the lack of interest by his mother, who dropped him off at Tara Hall to move on with her life and her many husbands, his belief in God, and that he got along well among diverse staff and residents. R15:1239-40. James Dumm, director of Tara Hall Boy's Home, would testify that while Sparre was there, there was little or no contact with his family, and that he called South Carolina's child abuse agency to report abuse because there was no communication at all with the mother. R15:1245-46.

A number of family members also were prepared to testify. Nissa Sparre, Sparre's sister, would describe their horrific upbringing, including the physical and emotional abuse she witnessed and the impact it had on her and her brother. Mary Kay Tyson, Sparre's maternal aunt (his mother's sister-in-law) also witnessed much of the abuse and would testify about, in her words, the "awful, awful life" these kids had. Gladys Sparre and Fred Sparre, who raised Sparre during certain time periods, would testify to the dysfunction on both his mother and his father's side. They would provide the link to Sparre's father, Erik, and would testify to his absence in Sparre's life, that he would not testify because he has a misdemeanor warrant in

Florida, and that both parents put their own wants ahead of their children. Rhonda Hickox, Sparre's mother, would show the dysfunction of Sparre's upbringing and would testify that she's been married seven times, has moved numerous times, that several of her husbands were physically, emotionally, and mentally abusive to Sparre, and that each marriage came first, not her son, ultimately culminating in her placing him in a home, where he was left for two years. Although the program was designed to reintegrate families and allowed families extensive access to the children, she visited her son one time in the two years he was there. Mary Varnadore, Sparre's maternal grandmother would testify that the two most significant relationships Sparre had were with her and her late husband and that these relationships were routinely hindered by Sparre's mother, who denied them access at times and only allowed for a meaningful relationship when Sparre came to live with her after he was released from the boy's home. Mrs. Varnadore would testify to the lack of relationship Sparre had with his mother and how it affected him, that he couldn't sleep at night and would try to crawl in Mrs. Varnadore's bed and would wake up in the middle of the night screaming and trying to climb the walls. R15:1241-48.

After the proffer, the trial judge asked Sparre if he had discussed the mitigation with his counsel and investigators. Sparre said he had and didn't want them to present the evidence.

Sparre told the judge he had been prescribed Thorazine and Celexa after telling the mental health counselor at the jail that he was having trouble sleeping but had stopped taking it because it gave him the shakes. The trial judge found that Sparre knowingly and voluntarily waived presentation of mitigation. R15:1248-59.

Three witnesses testified to the impact on the community of Pool's death: Michael Pool, Pool's husband; Thelma Summers, Pool's grandmother by marriage; and Valerie Speed, Pool's aunt. R15:1275-86.

After instructions and closing argument, the jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 12 to 0. R15:1410.

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on January 27. Sparre again waived the presentation of mitigating evidence, and defense counsel notified the court that the mitigation witnesses were again present and ready to testify. The state sought to introduce a letter written by Sparre to Ashley Chewning on January 2, 2012, after the penalty phase, which had been confiscated at the jail. Chewning and a jail sergeant testified respectively that the writing was Sparre's and that Sparre wrote the letter. The trial court later admitted the letter into evidence as additional proof of the aggravating circumstances already argued (HAC and committed during a burglary). R4:671-672. In the letter, Sparre said he wanted "to tell the truth

about why I killed that girl." He wrote that he knew he was going to Jacksonville a week before he started looking for a potential victim and he wanted to try something to see how it felt. He knew the police would come talk to him so "I had the perfect alibi . . taking my grandma to the doctor." He said it took over five minutes to kill her, that she was on the bed on her stomach when he began, then "we moved on by the bedroom after she quit fighting I tilted her head and sliced her throat." He said he planned it for a week and a half and did it for the rush and enjoyed it. "I never stabbed somebody and so I just thought it would be a good rush so I did it. Anyway the point I'm getting at is that I did what I did because I could and I almost got away with it." E2:286-288.

Sentencing Order

On March 30, the trial court entered its sentencing order. In the order, the judge stated that she had "taken into account all of the evidence presented during the trial, including the guilt and penalty phases, the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, the sentencing memoranda submitted by the parties, as well as the PSI." R4:695. The judge noted she could call witnesses to testify to mitigation evidence if the PSI revealed evidence of significant mitigation. R4:704.

The court found two aggravating circumstances, the murder was committed during a burglary (great weight) and was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great weight).

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