TGEGKKGF.'61314235'372: 54.'Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

In the Supreme Court of Florida

DAVID KELSEY SPARRE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-891

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 primary email: capapp@myfloridalegal.com secondary email: charmaine.millsaps@myfloridalegal.com COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

####

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

The jury convicted Sparre of both premeditated murder and felony murder with burglary with a weapon being the underlying felony during the guilt phase. (T. Vol. 3 592). The jury also recommended death unanimously. (T. Vol. 4 628).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Actually, the "substantial majority" language is from Johnson v. Louisiana, 406 U.S. 356, 362, 92 S.Ct. 1620, 1625, 32 L.Ed.2d 152 (1972), which is a due process case, not Apodaca. Sparre lacks standing to challenge a death sentence based on less than a unanimous vote because his jury unanimously recommended death. Burch v. Louisiana, 441 U.S. 130, 132, n.4, 99 S.Ct. 1623, 1624, n.4, 60 L.Ed.2d 96 (1979) (observing that a defendant who was convicted by a unanimous jury lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of the state law allowing conviction by a non-unanimous jury).

### <u>Preservation</u>

The record does not reveal whether the issue was properly preserved. Sparre filed a motion raising the *Ring* claim. Indeed, he filed two motions and a memo but it is unclear whether he obtained a ruling from the trial court on either motion. Baker v. State, 71 So.3d 802, 814 (Fla. 2011) (explaining to be preserved, the issue or legal argument must be raised and ruled on by the trial court quoting Rhodes v. State, 986 So.2d 501, 513 (Fla. 2008) and § 924.051(1)(b), (3), Fla. Stat.). The record on appeal does not contain the trial court's order denying the two motions. Appellant has the burden of establishing that the trial court ruled on his motions. Mollinea v. Mollinea, 77 So.3d 253, 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012) (affirming the trial court's order because the written order was not included in the record on appeal and explaining whether the record on appeal is insufficient for the appellate court to review the ruling, the appellate court will affirm citing Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979)).

#### Standard of review

The standard of review is *de novo*. Constitutional challenges to statutes are reviewed *de novo*. *Miller v. State*, 42 So.3d 204, 215 (Fla. 2010)(stating "[w]e review a trial court's ruling on the constitutionality of a Florida statute *de novo*" regarding a Sixth Amendment challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme).

#### <u>Merits</u>

The Sixth Amendment states:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

The United States Supreme Court, in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), held that the Sixth Amendment requires that aggravating factors, necessary under Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty, be found by a jury. Ring was the application of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), to capital cases. Arizona's death penalty statute, which was at issue in Ring, was judge-only capital sentencing. Florida's death penalty statute, in contrast, as the Ring Court itself noted, is a hybrid system involving both a judge and a jury. Ring, 536 U.S. at 608, n.6, 122 S.Ct. at 2442, n.6 (noting that Arizona, like Colorado, Idaho, Montana and Nebraska, "commit both capital sentencing factfinding and the ultimate sentencing decision entirely to judges" and noting that four States, Alabama, Delaware, Florida and Indiana, "have hybrid systems, in which the jury renders an advisory verdict but judge makes the ultimate sentencing determinations."). the Florida's scheme is jury plus judge sentencing, not judge only sentencing.

This Court has repeatedly, over the years, rejected *Ring* challenges to Florida's death penalty scheme. As this Court has

- 38 -

recently noted: "we have repeatedly rejected constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty under *Ring." Ault v. State*, 53 So.3d 175, 205-206 (Fla. 2010) (rejecting a *Ring* challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme citing *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002), and *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002)). Kaczmar provides no reason for this Court to recede from this solid wall of precedent.

The United States Supreme Court, in Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 119 S.Ct. 1215, 143 L.Ed.2d 311 (1999), a case that was a precursor to Apprendi and Ring, explained that Florida's death penalty does not violate the Sixth Amendment. It was a footnote in Jones stating "under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt," that essentially became the holding in Apprendi. Jones, 526 U.S. at 243 n.6.<sup>5</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Minus the language in *Jones* regarding the indictment clause because the federal indictment clause does not apply to the states. *Hurtado v. California*, 110 U.S. 516, 538, 4 S.Ct. 111, 28 L.Ed. 232 (1884) (holding that the Indictment Clause of the Fifth Amendment is not incorporated against the states via the Due Process Clause); *Branzburg v. Hayes*, 408 U.S. 665, 688 n. 25, 92 S.Ct. 2646, 33 L.Ed.2d 626 (1972)). This Court has repeatedly reject claims that the aggravator must be listed in the indictment. *Pham v. State*, 70 So.3d 485, 496 (Fla. 2011) (stating that "this Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that aggravating circumstances must be alleged in the indictment" citing *Coday v. State*, 946 So.2d 988, 1006 (Fla. 2006); *Ibar v. State*, 938 So.2d 451, 473 (Fla. 2006); *Blackwelder v. State*, 851 So.2d 650, 654 (Fla. 2003); *Kormondy v. State*, 845 So.2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003); and *Rogers v. State*, 957 So.2d 538, 554 (Fla. 2007)).

Jones Court explained that if there is a jury recommendation of death, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is not violated. The Jones Court explained that in Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989), a Florida capital case, a jury made a sentencing recommendation of death, thus "necessarily engaging in the factfinding required for imposition of a higher sentence, that is, the determination that at least one appravating factor had been proved." Jones, 526 U.S. at 251, 119 S.Ct. at 1228. See also State v. Steele, 921 So.2d 538, 546 (Fla. 2005) (explaining that a finding of an aggravator "is implicit in a jury's recommendation of a sentence of death" citing Jones). A jury in Florida is instructed that they may not recommend death unless they find an aggravator. So, a jury that recommends death has necessarily found at least one aggravator. According to both the United States Supreme Court in Jones and the Florida Supreme Court in Steele, a jury's recommendation of death means the jury found an aggravator which is all Ring requires.

Sparre's jury unanimously recommended death. His jury necessarily found at least one aggravator in order to recommend death. There can be no violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial where the defendant had a jury and that jury necessarily found an aggravator.

Furthermore, in a case where no automatic aggravators were present, the United States Supreme Court denied review of a Florida capital case with a jury recommendation of death raising a *Ring* claim yet again. *Peterson v. State*, 94 So.3d 514 (Fla. 2012), *cert. denied*, No. 12-6741 (December 10, 2012). In *Peterson*, three

- 40 -

Justices of this Court has dissented as to the sentence based on Ring. Peterson, 94 So.3d at 540 (Pariente, J., dissenting as to sentence) (expressing similar concerns to those of the federal district court in Evans regarding the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute in light of Ring). Peterson involved a "pure" Ring claim where neither recidivist aggravator nor the felony murder aggravator was present. Peterson, 94 So.3d at 538 (Pariente, J., dissenting as to sentence) (observing that neither automatic aggavator was present). Peterson then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court relying on the dissent in his case and the federal district court's decision in Evans. Peterson argued that the United States Supreme Court should review his "pure" Ring claim because both this Court and the Eleventh Circuit are not certain how Ring applies to Florida and the Court should clarify the matter for both courts. Evans v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep't. of Corr., 699 F.3d at 1262, 1265 (11th Cir. 2012) (stating that while Ring did not explicitly overrule Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989), "its reasoning arguably conflicts with the Hildwin decision" and observing that "a principled argument can be made" that Hildwin conflicts with Ring). The United States Supreme Court denied the petition regardless of this plea for clarification.

Furthermore, the Eleventh Circuit overruled the federal district court in *Evans v. Sec'y*, *Florida*, *Dep't of Corr.*, 699 F.3d 1249 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012). The Eleventh Circuit reversed the federal district court's ruling finding Florida's death penalty statute to be a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial as

- 41 -

established in *Ring*. The Eleventh Circuit found Florida's death penalty statute to be constitutional. The *Evans* Court described Florida's death penalty procedures as being unlike Arizona's which were at issue in *Ring*, because there is "jury input" in the finding of aggravating circumstances in Florida. *Evans*, 699 F.3d at 1256, 1261 (finding that Florida's "death sentencing procedures do provide jury input about the existence of aggravating circumstances that was lacking in the Arizona procedures . . .").

The Evans Court noted that the Supreme Court in Ring had described Arizona's capital scheme was one that committed sentencing decision "entirely to judges" and as one where "the trial judge, sitting alone," and where a sentencing judge, "sitting without a jury" found the aggravating circumstance. Ring, 536 U.S. at 608, n.6; Ring, 536 U.S. at 588; Ring, 536 U.S. at 609; Evans, 699 F.3d at 1262, n.6. The Eleventh Circuit noted that the Supreme Court itself in Ring had characterized states such as Florida as being a "hybrid" sentencing states and placed such states in a third category separate from the judge-only states. Evans, 699 F.3d at 1262. The Court observed if the Ring Court had intended to rule that jury-only sentencing was required in capital cases, "hybrid systems would not be a separate category." Id.

The *Evans* panel noted that for a Florida jury to recommend death, the jury had to find at least one aggravating circumstance. The *Evans* panel noted that in *Jones v. United States*, 526 U.S. 227, 250-51, 119 S.Ct. 1215, 1227-28 (1999), the Court discussed favorably its prior decision in *Hildwin v. Florida*, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S.Ct. 2055 (1989), and "pointed out that Florida juries do play

- 42 -

an important role in the capital sentencing process: In Florida, a jury makes a sentencing recommendation of death, thus necessarily engaging in the factfinding required for imposition of a higher sentence, that is, the determination that at least one aggravating factor had been proved." *Evans*, 699 F.3d at 1261 quoting *Jones*, 526 U.S. at 250-51, 119 S.Ct. at 1228.

The Evans Court observed that the "Supreme Court has not decided whether the role that a Florida jury plays in the death-eligibility determination is different enough from the absence of any role, which was involved in Ring, for the Florida procedures to be distinguishable" but unless, and until, the Supreme Court did, the Circuit Court was bound by Hildwin. Evans, 699 F.3d at 1261. The Evans panel stated that "nowhere in its Ring opinion did the Court say that it was overruling Hildwin." Id. at 1262. The Eleventh Circuit noted that, while Hildwin may conflict with Ring, Hildwin controlled because it was "directly on point" and therefore, they were bound to follow Hildwin. Id. at 1264. The Evans Court observed that, while the Ring Court had overruled Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047 (1990), the Ring Court had not overruled Hildwin. Id. at 1264-65. The Eleventh Circuit invoked the United States Supreme Court's repeated instructions regarding such conflicts in the law and observed that the Supreme Court "has told us, over and over again, to follow any of its decisions that directly applies in a case" . . . "and leave to that Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions." Id. at 1263. The panel explained that it was not their place or the district court's to overrule Hildwin; it was the Supreme Court's.

- 43 -

The Evans Court reviewed the Ring claim de novo rather than employing the typical AEDPA standards normally applicable to federal habeas cases. Evans, 699 F.3d at 1265, n.9 (stating: "[o]ur de novo decision on the merits of the Hildwin/Ring issue makes it unnecessary for us to decide a number of other issues relating to this claim). The Eleventh Circuit, conducting a de novo review, held that Florida's death penalty statute did not violate Ring.

Both this Court and the Eleventh Circuit have recognized that it is the United States Supreme Court's place to overrule their prior precedent of *Hildwin*. See Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693, 695 (Fla. 2002) (quoting the United States Supreme Court's admonition that if a precedent of this Court has direct application in a case, yet appears to rest on reasons rejected in some other line of decisions, court should follow the case which directly controls, leaving to the Supreme Court "the prerogative of overruling its own decisions" in *Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, Inc.*, 490 U.S. 477, 484, 109 S.Ct. 1917, 104 L.Ed.2d 526 (1989)); *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143, 144-45 (Fla. 2002) (same). And the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly declined to overrule that precedent even in "pure" *Ring* cases that are in the pipeline that involve death recommendations such as *Peterson*.

Moreover, if *Ring* applied and required that the jury find one aggravator, then *Ring* was satisfied in the guilt phase in this particular case. One of the aggravators found by the trial court was the "during the course of a felony" aggravator. The jury found Sparre guilty of armed burglary in the guilt phase by special verdict. Basically, the jury unanimously found this aggravator in

- 44 -

the guilt phase by convicting him of felony murder with burglary with a weapon as the underlying felony. *Ring* was satisfied before the penalty phase even began. As this Court recently reiterated, "*Ring* is not implicated when the trial court has found as an aggravating circumstance that the crime was committed in the course of a felony." *Baker v. State*, 71 So.3d 802, 824 (Fla. 2011) (citing *McGirth v. State*, 48 So.3d 777, 795 (Fla. 2010) (citing *Robinson v. State*, 865 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 2004)). Accordingly, *Ring* is not violated in a case where the jury unanimously finds an aggravator in the guilt phase. This Court should not recede from *Bottoson* or *King*.

#### Harmless error

Furthermore, if even there had been a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, violations of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, including *Ring* claims, are subject to harmless error analysis. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (finding that error in the judge determining the issue of materiality rather than properly submitting the materiality issue to the jury was harmless error). A rational jury would have found an aggravator if specifically asked to do so. A rational jury would have found the HAC aggravator in a case where the victim was stabbed over eighty times and had 39 defensive wounds. Nor was there any serious dispute regarding the during-the-course-of-a-burglary aggravator, any jury

- 45 -

would have found both aggravators to be present if asked to do so. Therefore, any error was harmless.

## Sufficiency of the evidence

Although not raised as an issue on appeal, this Court has a mandatory obligation to independently review the sufficiency of the evidence in every case in which a sentence of death has been imposed. See Miller v. State, 42 So.3d 204, 227 (Fla. 2010); Fla. R.App. P. 9.142(a)(6). In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, the question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

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